

# Free Movement of Persons and Migration

Report of the hearing held on 21st January, 2016



LSE Commission on the Future of Britain in Europe

**Rapporteurs:** 

Eiko Thielemann (LSE) Daniel Schade (LSE)

### Foreword

This is the report on the fourth hearing of the LSE Commission on the Future of Britain in Europe which focused on the Freedom of Movement and Immigration and took place on Tuesday, February 23rd 2016.

Participants were invited not for their views on the referendum itself, but for their expertise in the realm of the EU's Freedom of Movement policies. The attendees who ultimately joined us for the hearing were academics, policy-makers and activists.

We are extremely grateful for their attendance at the meeting, the lively debate that ensued and their useful comments on a draft version of this report. We would also like to thank those involved in the project at the LSE; particularly David Spence for his thorough comments on draft versions of this report, as well as Marion Osborne for her administrative support. All remaining errors in this report remain ours.

# Contents

1.	introduction 4			
2.	Summary			
3.	Costs and benefits of the free movement of persons: A matter of perspective			
	3.1 The availability of reliable data 6			
	3.2 Cost-benefit perspectives: The EU as a whole 6			
	3.3 Cost-benefit perspectives: European citizens			
	3.4 Cost-benefit perspectives: member states 8			
	3.4.1 Countries of origin			
	3.4.2 Receiving countries			
4.	Assessing policy options: Curing the 'problem' by killing the patient?			
	4.1 Reforming the British welfare state			
	4.2 Establishing an 'emergency brake'			
	4.3 The Brexit scenario			
5.	Conclusions			
Par	ticipants list			

# 1. Introduction

The topic of this hearing was the EU's freedom of movement rules and the role they play in the discussions surrounding the United Kingdom's upcoming EU referendum. The hearing was therefore concerned with the impact of these provisions both on the European Union itself, and on individual member states, focusing particularly on the effects on the United Kingdom.

The EU's freedom of movement policies have moved up political agendas across Europe ever since the enlargement of the EU to Central and Eastern European countries in 2004 and 2007 brought in a number of countries that were at significantly lower levels of socioeconomic development than those that had previously become members. The growth in labour market opportunities in different member states has meant that more EU citizens have made use of their right to freedom of movement since the year 2000 than previously, with countries like Germany and the UK being the most popular destinations.

However, during the hearing it became clear that the debate about freedom of movement should not be limited to intra-EU migration. For many participants this policy area is part of a broader debate on the costs and benefits of the EU's Single Market. Nonetheless, while some contributors at the hearing suggested that "accepting freedom of movement is the cost of doing business with the EU", others cautioned that the national perspective was equally important.

Such considerations are particularly relevant since polling data suggest that migration is one of the core issues for voters in the UK1. While the referendum campaigns have turned to wider debates about the costs and benefits of EU membership, the way in which the migration-related outcomes of the government's renegotiation package are being discussed could still have a significant influence on the outcome.

Overall, a disparity remains, on the one hand, between the negative public perceptions of the effects of migration, and, on the other, the more nuanced impression given by much of the available academic data, which suggests that effects are either negligible or positive. A number of reasons for this gap were suggested, mainly depending on the perspective adopted. Assessments may vary according to whether the economic, social or cultural effects of the EU's freedom of movement policies are being considered, and whether the approach is based on an analysis at state level or at the level of groups of individuals.

In order to capture the range of discussions that took place during the Hearing, the remainder of this report is structured as follows: the first section outlines the costs and benefits of freedom of movement from different perspectives, while pointing to difficulties in providing accurate data on these developments; the second section discusses a variety of responses to the perceived problem of EU migration to the UK, and the effect they are likely to have on the outcome of the referendum; thirdly, the report weighs up the evidence submitted by the participants.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to YouGov issues trackers.

# 2. Summary

- Free movement of labour was one of the founding principles of the Treaty establishing the European Economic Community in 1957, but in the context of the UK referendum it has become contentious.
- In the absence of precise and reliable data, establishing the true impact of the provisions for freedom of movement on the level of migration since the UK joined the European Communities in 1973 is difficult.
- Assessment of costs and benefits depends largely on whether effects are considered on the EU as a whole, on individual member states, or on particular socio-economic groups within a state.
- There is strong evidence for overall positive economic impact of intra-EU labour migration for both the EU and the UK.
- However, UK wages may be held down by EU immigration, particularly in lower income unskilled sectors.
- The effect of free movement on the provision of public services in the UK is relatively small, as the majority of intra-EU migrants come to the UK to seek employment, are not accompanied by family members, have generally completed their education and are not acting as welfare tourists.

- · But: the nature of the design and funding arrangements of the British welfare system means certain restrictions on benefits, recognised under EU law, are more difficult to implement in the UK.
- The migration-related contents of the Government's package were said to contain important elements that might address some of the concerns of the general public about the negative impact of EU migration.
- The UK Government was seeking:
  - firstly, a reform of the benefits system to prevent access by migrants to in-work benefits until they had been resident in the UK for a certain number of years;
  - secondly, to avoid the exportation of child benefit to the migrant's country of origin.
- Participants at the Hearing doubted that the reform package would have a significant impact on levels of EU migration to the UK, and concluded that the main pull factor to the UK was its strong and open economy.
- Brexit (and even leaving the Single Market) is unlikely to deliver the kind of immigration cuts that some proponents of leave would like to see.

# Costs and benefits of the free movement of persons: A matter of perspective

The discussions during the Hearing highlighted some of the difficulties involved in evaluating the costs and benefits of the EU's free movement regime, starting with the issues raised by data collection. This was followed by a discussion on the costs and benefits of EU freedom of movement rules from three different perspectives: first, that of the EU as a whole; second, that of individual European citizens, and third that of member states, focusing on the effect on the United Kingdom in particular.

#### 3.1 The availability of reliable data

The discussion quickly revealed a major problem in any discussion of the effects of the EU's freedom of movement policies, namely the inherent difficulty of gathering accurate migration data. The importance of establishing even the most basic facts was recently highlighted when the UK government published statistics on the take up of welfare benefits by EU migrants, which were subsequently called into question by the government's own statistical watchdog.<sup>2</sup>

The first problem in establishing accurate data on migration (and its impact) concerns the challenge of being able to distinguish between permanent migration patterns and shorter-term mobility. Moreover, one of the main sources of data for EU migration to the UK, for instance, is the Office of National Statistics' estimates derived from the International Passenger Survey, figures which fail to capture accurately the intentions of people

crossing the UK's borders and to record their length of stay.

As some participants pointed out, this makes it difficult to assess how many EU migrants have settled permanently in the UK and, consequently, what their impact is on the UK's labour market and public services. While some academic studies have tried to provide more accurate data<sup>3</sup>, the availability of reliable up-to-date statistics remains a critical problem. However, even with better data, disagreements would remain as to the appropriate level of analysis when evaluating the costs and benefits of migration.

# 3.2 Cost-benefit perspectives: The EU as a whole

For some participants, the EU's freedom of movement provisions are as much an economic concept as they are a symbol of what the EU represents. They therefore set the current situation regarding freedom of movement within a wider context, arguing that it has been a core feature of European integration (albeit in a weaker form) ever since the foundation of the European Economic Community.

While earlier flows were significantly lower than today, participants nevertheless pointed out that Germany, for example, received relatively large numbers of migrants from Greece and Spain when they joined the European Communities in 1981 and 1986 respectively. It was also pointed out that the reforms leading to the current iteration of the right to freedom of movement, as established with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Independent, 'David Cameron's EU migrant benefits figures blasted by UK Statistics Authority watchdog', 11 November 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> C. Dustmann, T. Frattini and C. Halls (2010): "Assessing the Fiscal Costs and Benefits of A8 Migration to the UK", Fiscal Studies 31 (1), pp. 1-41.

Treaty of Maastricht, were actually based on concerns during the 1980s that intra-European mobility was too low.

From an economic perspective, some participants suggested that freedom of movement of persons is a necessary corollary to a functioning single market, which in turn has positive socioeconomic effects for the EU as a whole. If governments are interested in reaping the full economic benefits arising from the free flow of goods, capital and services, then the benefits can only accrue if the flow is accompanied by the free movement of persons. It was stressed that a change to one of these four components would necessarily have negative consequences on the others.

While not all EU economies have benefitted equally from the Single Market, it is widely agreed that the integration of less developed countries into the single market has not only created economic benefits for the countries in question, but for the EU as a whole.

Several participants cautioned, however, that reducing EU migration to a purely economic dimension would not do justice to the European project itself. The EU's concept of freedom of movement serves as an important symbol for individual freedoms in Europe, even at times when the economic benefits are not immediately obvious. As one participant pointed out, freedom of movement is often viewed as a basic principle of what it means to be a European. It was one of the central aspirations of Central and Eastern

Europeans who were denied this right under Communist rule.

#### 3.3 Cost-benefit perspectives: **European citizens**

Comments focusing on the effects that freedom of movement have on individual European citizens revealed different perspectives depending on the category of citizen concerned. Just as freedom of movement affects different member states in different ways, the costs and benefits for individual citizens depend on factors such as national origin and socio-economic status.

While the benefits of the freedom of movement are obvious for those who have taken up their right to reside in a different country, they are less obvious for non-mobile individuals. Nonetheless, as one participant commented, from an economic perspective, freedom of movement has positive effects not only for migrants, but also for the host country. While the latter effect is relatively limited when broken down at individual level, the impact over the life course is significant for individual migrants. These surplus benefits are internalised in the EU, increasing the average level of wellbeing of every EU citizen. In addition, it was pointed out that the mere possibility of EU-internal migration serves as an insurance policy when individual EU economies suffer from recession, allowing workers to seek employment elsewhere.

There is strong evidence for overall positive economic impact of intra-EU labour migration for both the EU and the UK

#### 3.4 Cost-benefit perspectives: member states

While intra-EU migration operates from and to all EU countries, a distinction can nonetheless be made between the effects on two broad categories of member states: namely the countries of origin (migrantsending countries) and migrant-receiving countries. The effects on the latter group also depend largely on the kind of EU migrants they receive.

#### 3.4.1 Countries of origin

While there are concerns that emigration may lead to a "brain drain" and a worsening of the demographic outlook, the effects on the countries of origin were generally viewed as very positive by the participants at the Hearing. This is primarily due to the payment of financial remittances by migrants back to their home countries. Simultaneously large-scale emigration creates incentives for political and economic reform. One participant supported this argument by citing the example of the long-term positive effects of the Irish brain drain during the 1980s on the country itself.

By contrast, some participants cautioned that large-scale emigration from Europe's Eastern and Southern member states contributes to a loss of workers who would be capable of injecting economic dynamism into the economies of their countries of origin. In their opinion, the positive effects associated with freedom of movement can eventually become negative if too many citizens decide to settle abroad permanently instead of making only shortterm use of the ability to work, live and study abroad.

One participant illustrated the positive effects of freedom of movement in the case of Poland. While there has been large-scale emigration of skilled Polish workers, little evidence is found that this emigration has led to major labour market shortages (with the possible exception of the information technology sector). Nonetheless, some concerns were expressed as to the potential negative demographic effects on sending countries' pension systems.

#### 3.4.2 Receiving countries

Comments about the effects on recipient countries offered insights into both general costs and benefits of receiving EU migrants, and the effects on specific member states, and particularly on the UK.

A number of participants argued that destination countries benefit from receiving migrants in a variety of ways: due to their contributions to national budgets, the introduction of new skills into the labour market, by dampening the effects

of ageing populations in the host countries or more broadly in cultural terms.

Participants also pointed to the fact that the UK is not the only recipient country for EU migrants, with various member states receiving different kinds of migrants. In that context, Spain and Portugal were cited as examples of countries receiving a high proportion of retired elderly EU migrants (including significant numbers from the UK).

Participants offered a variety of insights into both the costs and benefits of EU migration to the UK. Despite the many positive economic effects reported in the discussion, a significant increase in EU immigration to the UK since the EU's enlargement to the East in 2004 and 2007 has raised some concerns. However, most participants agreed that a large part of EU migration to the UK was demanddriven and due to the dynamism of the UK's economy.

Generally speaking, the EU's freedom of movement rules have provided UK businesses with a steady supply of workers, be they highly specialized or low-skilled. With regard to the economic impact of EU migration on the UK, reference was made to a study outlining an overall fiscal benefit to the UK's public finances as a result of intra-EU migration4.

While the effects on the UK's economy appear to be largely positive overall, some participants also referred to a recent study<sup>5</sup> showing that high levels of immigration to the UK have the potential to hold down UK wages, creating particularly high risks for workers in the low-skilled and semiskilled sectors. Moreover, some participants highlighted concerns about the impact of migration on public services, as well as social cohesion within communities.

Several participants noted that EU migrants arriving in the UK tend to be young, they have received their education



<sup>4</sup> C. Dustmann and T. Frattini (2014): "The Fiscal Effects of Immigration to the UK", The Economic Journal 124 (580), pp. F593-F643.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> S. Nickell and J. Saleheen (2015): The impact of of immigration on occupational wages: Evidence from Britain, Staff Working Paper No. 574, London: Bank of England.

abroad and often have not yet formed families. This creates significant benefits for the UK, as the country is receiving the benefits from skills acquired abroad without having to pay for them. Moreover, young people tend to make less use of the National Health Service. However, participants did point out that, when migrants settle more permanently and form families, these dynamics may be expected to change. While they are likely to pay more taxes as they integrate further into labour markets, public expenditure on education and healthcare is expected to rise.

Moreover, a growing population does have wider effects on the housing market and on the provision of public services. As noted by one participant, the impact of migration also depends on the ease of scalability and adaptability of different services, to a changing population. Overall, the problem of accurately estimating migration levels and patterns makes it difficult for planners to alter the provision of services rapidly, in particular in cases where important capital costs arise, as for housing and transportation.

Several participants countered this claim by arguing that the budgets for public services in the UK have been cut significantly in recent years, even when demand has been on the rise, meaning that the pressure on public services is felt across the UK and not just in areas with significant numbers of migrants.

When discussing public concerns about the impact of migration on the UK's social services, participants pointed to the fact that, where benefits are provided on a non-contributory basis, it is difficult under EU rules to restrict access selectively for individuals, even to those who have not contributed to the system. Member states based on contributory social security systems have managed to curtail access to non-contributors while remaining compliant with EU legislation, whereas tax-funded systems like that in the UK have struggled to do so.

Most participants agreed that the costs of welfare benefits for EU migrants are relatively small. The issue is nonetheless significant in terms of public attitudes, particularly in the UK. In Ireland for example, a country with a similar noncontributory welfare system, concerns over the welfare costs for EU migrants have been much more muted and are regarded as largely insignificant compared to the wider benefits of being a member of the EU.

Beyond the economic dimension, a number of participants highlighted the reputational benefits for the UK due to the country's openness to migration in general, and to EU migration from Central and Eastern Europe in particular. Finally, some participants cautioned against adopting an overly short-term perspective on the issue of net migration levels since migratory patterns can be subject to significant changes over time.

# 4 Assessing policy options: Curing the 'problem' by killing the patient?

A number of different policy options were briefly discussed at the hearing. The exchanges demonstrated that there are no easy fixes when it comes to addressing concerns over immigration to the UK.

#### 4.1 Reforming the British welfare state

As already noted, the design of the UK's welfare arrangements limits the possibility of restricting access to welfare benefits for EU migrants. Furthermore, the UK's government is highly centralised, making it more difficult to adapt policy planning to regionally differentiated demographic challenges. Regions in decentralized countries like Germany have been able to adapt their planning more successfully to different intra-EU migration patterns.

While the potential for institutional changes in the UK to address these challenges and constraints has been discussed in the past, most participants felt that wide-ranging institutional reform was unlikely. Some voiced concerns that any fundamental changes in response to the challenges associated with EU membership would further fuel Euroscepticism in the UK.

#### 4.2 Establishing an 'emergency brake'

The effectiveness of an emergency brake mechanism, as in the negotiation package, for the suspension of benefits to EU migrants was also discussed at the Hearing. While the specifics of this measure were

the design and funding arrangements of the British welfare system mean certain restrictions on benefits, recognised under EU law, are more difficult to implement in the UK

unclear at the time of the Hearing, many participants had their doubts about the effective implementation of such a measure.

Some participants suggested that the establishment of an emergency brake on EU migrants' access to in-work benefits would raise questions about exactly who would be able to trigger the measure and on what basis. While the deal that has been agreed since the Hearing addresses this issue by giving ultimate decisionmaking power to the European Council, the issue of eligibility criteria has not been clearly addressed, as the deal simply states that the UK would be able to make use of the emergency brake mechanism in the current circumstances.

The focus of the discussion turned, however, on the likely efficacy of the measure in bringing down EU-migration to the UK. Most of the participants agreed that the effect on migration levels was likely to be minimal. Some nonetheless highlighted the important symbolic effects of the measure in addressing public concerns about so-called welfare tourism.

#### 4.3 The Brexit scenario

Asked about the viability of Brexit as a solution to the perceived problem of mass EU migration to the UK, participants pointed to many unresolved issues. Most felt that Brexit would do little to bring about significant change in the immigration pull factors that have made the UK a popular destination country for migrants. Nonetheless, two distinct scenarios were discussed in more detail.

While participants agreed that Brexit would, in theory, give Britain more control over its immigration system, most believed that, in practice, control over immigration would remain limited. Doubts were cast on the capacity of an open economy like that of the UK to close its borders.

Participants also cautioned against seeing the EU's free movement of persons' provisions in isolation, as they are intrinsically linked to other aspects of the Single Market. If the UK wants to continue to benefit from access to that market. most considered that it was not feasible to assume that the other member states would allow Britain to restrict movement of EU citizens into the UK unilaterally. Asked about solutions that would see Britain reorganize its relationship with Europe in a similar way to Norway's EEA participation, or Switzerland's bilateral treaties, the consensus was that this would not address the perceived problem of migration to the UK.

In the absence of a settlement similar to the Norwegian model, participants discussed the idea of a points-based system as is currently in place in Australia. While some participants recognized the appeal of such a model, they nevertheless pointed to a number of specific difficulties that would arise. British businesses are expected to oppose a solution that renders access to qualified labour more difficult, and such a system would be expected to generate significant bureaucratic costs. Whereas one participant saw the attraction of a system that provides preferential access to migrants from richer countries, others cautioned that such a system would create more problems than it would solve.

Some participants also warned that any significant change to migration policy would radically increase incentives for illegal migration, ultimately putting a large number of workers at risk of exploitation. Finally, it was suggested that significant difficulties would arise for Britain's relationship with Ireland if the UK were no longer a member of either the EU or the European Economic Area (EEA).

## 5 Conclusions

Two broad conclusions emerged from the LSE expert Hearing on free movement of persons and migration.

First, the discussions shed some light on the question as to why so many disagreements remain about the costs and benefits of migration. Data on migration remain notoriously weak, and analysts will always differ in their assessment of the relative importance of financial and non-financial factors involved. More importantly, the Hearing made it clear that, ultimately, any assessment usually comes down to the question of whose benefits and costs are of most concern.

Second, the meeting highlighted that our experts did not believe that the British Government's renegotiation deal will prove an effective way to cut immigration to the UK. It seems very clear that the reasons for immigration to the UK have a lot more to do with pull factors created by an open and successful British economy than with the attractiveness or otherwise of Britain's welfare system. As one of the hearing's participants aptly put it: 'For free market economies, the only effective way to reduce immigration is to wreck your economy and throw it into recession'. If Britain wants to remain an open market economy, even a Brexit scenario is unlikely to deliver the kind of control over immigration that some proponents of leave would like to see.

the main pull factor to the UK is its strong and open economy

# Participants List

First	Surname	Title
Brad	Blitz	Deputy Dean, School of Law and Professor of International Politics, Middlesex University London
Sir William	Cash	Chair of European Scrutiny Committee, Member of Parliament for Stone, House of Commons
Rosa	Crawford	Policy Officer, Trade Union Congress
Floris	de Witte	Assistant Professor of Law, LSE
Christian	Dustmann	Professor of Economics, Department of Economics, University College London
Adrian	Favell	Chair in Sociology and Social Theory, University of Leeds
Don	Flynn	Director, Migrants Rights Network
David	Goodhart	Editor at Large, Prospect Magazine
Lord Andrew	Green	The Lord Green of Deddington KCMG, House of Lords; Chairman, Migrationwatch
Phoebe	Griffith	Associate Director for Migration, Integration and Communities, Institute for Public Policy Research
Jean	Lambert	Member of the European Parliament, Group of the Greens/ European Free Alliance, Employment and Social Affairs and Civil Liberties Committee
Baroness Sarah	Ludford	Liberal Democrat Parliamentary Spokesperson on Europe, House of Lords
Alan	Manning	Professor of Economics, LSE
Heather	Rolfe	Principal Research Fellow, National Institute of Economic and Social Research
Martin	Ruhs	Associate Professor of Political Economy, University of Oxford
Bernard	Ryan	Professor of Migration Law, Leicester University

First	Surname	Title
Waltraud	Schelkle	Associate Professor of Political Economy, LSE
Madeleine	Sumption	Director, Migration Observatory at the University of Oxford
Pawel	Swidlicki	Policy Analyst, Open Europe



#### Contact us with any questions

European Institute Cowdray House London School of Economics and Political Science Houghton Street WC2A 2AE

#### **General Enquiries**

Email: europeaninstitute@lse.ac.uk Telephone: +44 (0) 20 7955 6839